A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Rachelle K. Black, appellant below and mother of the children at the 

center of this case, asks this Court to accept review of Division Two's 

decision terminating review. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision of March 

8, 2016, affirming the trial court's orders on residential placement, 

decision-making authority over education, spousal maintenance, and child 

support. A copy of this decision is attached as Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether a parent's sexual orientation may be considered in a 

residential placement decision? 

2. Whether a parent's religious views on homosexuality may 

serve as a basis for a residential time decision without the requisite 

findings of harm to the children? 

3. Whether RCW 26.09.184(3) permits a residential time decision 

to be based on a preference for maintaining the children's upbringing in a 

religion that teaches that homosexuality is sinful? 

4. Whether, when making a residential placement decision, a trial 

court may fault a stay-at-home parent for not working outside the home 

while also faulting her prospectively for not being a stay-at-home parent if 

she pursues education and employment? 

5. Whether a lesbian parent's constitutional right to free exercise 

of religion is burdened when a trial court awards sole decision-making 

authority over education to the parent who intends to enroll the children in 
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religious schools that teach that homosexuality is sinful? 

6. Whether a denial of spousal maintenance to a long-time stay-

at-home mother-who forfeited her own economic opportunities to 

support the family and was found to need maintenance-is consistent with 

the Washington requirement that the decision be just and based on a fair 

consideration ofRCW 26.09.090's six statutory factors where the denial is 

based solely on an unsupported "ability to pay" analysis? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner Rachelle Black is a 40-year-old mother of three children, 

ages 17, 14, and 9. CP 73. Rachelle was raised in a conservative Christian 

household and married Charles Black in 1994 when she was 19. !d. The 

Blacks had the first of their three sons in 1999, and agreed that Rachelle 

should stay at home with their children while Charles continued to work. 

CP 73; I RP 192. 

Throughout her marriage, Rachelle was a stay-at-home mother for 

the three children. CP 40, 74; I RP 192; II RP 256. She was their primary 

caregiver, parenting them while Charles worked. CP 40, 74. She took care 

of the housekeeping, grocery shopping, and cooking, and volunteered in 

the children's schools. CP 40, 74; I RP 98, 104-5, 120, 125-26, 128-34, 

175-76. There is no dispute that Rachelle maintained a strong and stable 

relationship with her children. See CP 40, 75; I RP 101-03; II RP 362. 

After their first son was born, the Blacks joined the same 

conservative Christian church where Rachelle's parents serve as elders; 

the Blacks also decided to send their children to private, Christian schools. 
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CP 39, 73; I RP 145, 184. Neither the church nor the schools are 

welcoming ofLGBT1 individuals. I RP 36; II RP 289. The children's 

schools teach that homosexuality is a sin and that the children should "love 

the sinner, [but] hate the sin." I RP 36, 164; II RP 284, 289. 

Seventeen years into the marriage, Rachelle began to question her 

sexuality and in December 2011 told her husband that she thought she 

might be a lesbian. CP 40, 73; II RP 271. Charles told Rachelle to "figure 

it out." II RP 272. Rachelle took some time away from the family home to 

make new friends and to come to terms with her sexuality; ultimately, she 

entered into a relationship with a woman. I RP 111-12, 114-16, 167. In 

May 2013, Rachelle filed for dissolution. CP 1. Rachelle has maintained 

her Christian beliefs, although she no longer believes that homosexuality 

is sinful. II RP 276. 

The parties continued to live together-in different parts of the 

family home-until the divorce was final. CP 73; II RP 269, 320. For the 

entirety of the dissolution, Rachelle continued to be a stay-at-home mother 

and Charles continued to work full time. CP 40; I RP 120-22, 125-26, 128-

34, 141-42, 192; II RP 287. The parties agreed each should have 

individual time with the children, and so Rachelle would leave the family 

home to allow Charles his time. II RP 367-68. 

At trial, both Rachelle and Charles sought to be the primary 

residential parent. CP 5; Ex 2, at 2-4; Ex 41, at 3-8. Charles also requested 

sole decision-making authority on nearly all areas, while Rachelle 

1 The acronym "LGBT" stands for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender. 
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requested sole decision-making authority on education. II RP 256, 258; 

Ex 2, at 6; Ex 41, at 10. As a long-time stay-at-home mother with only a 

high school education, Rachelle also requested two years of spousal 

maintenance so she could complete a two-year degree program and be 

better able to support herself. I RP 196-97; Ex 6, at 3. 

Charles sought severe restrictions on Rachelle's speech, conduct, and 

religious expression pursuant to RCW 26.09.191-all related to Rachelle's 

sexual orientation and the evolution of her religious viewpoint on 

homosexuality. Ex 41, at 2-3, 7-8. In particular, he sought to prohibit her 

from discussing religion, homosexuality or anything related to "alternative 

lifestyles" with her children, or from participating in any activity that 

might "relate" to homosexuality or "alternative lifestyles," unless 

explicitly approved by the children's therapist. Ex 41, at 7. Rachelle did 

not agree to these restrictions and did not seek restrictions on Charles. 

Ex 2, at 2, 4-5; see II RP 260-66. 

The trial court appointed a guardian ad litem ("GAL") who filed a 

report and testified at the trial, revealing significant discomfort with and 

judgment ofRachelle, including criticism ofRachelle's "choice" to end 

the marriage because ofher sexual orientation. CP 18-23; I RP 44; Ex 40 

at 21-22, 24. The GAL repeatedly characterized Rachelle's sexuality using 

discriminatory and offensive phrases, such as "lifestyle choice" and 

"gender preference decision," and implied that Rachelle should have 

stayed in the marriage and acted on her "alternative lifestyle" only after 

her children were grown. See I RP 14, 33, 39, 41-45; Ex 39, at 3, 6-7; 
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Ex 40, at 17, 21-22. Indeed, the GAL expressed concern that Rachelle 

discussed homosexuality and the word "transgender" with her children. I 

RP 47; Ex 40, at 23-24. 

Consistent with these views, the GAL testified that, in her opinion, 

the children, who had been raised in a "sheltered" conservative Christian 

environment, would have difficulty adjusting to the fact that their mother 

is a lesbian and her changed religious beliefs regarding homosexuality and 

divorce. I RP 36-37, 45-49, 57-61. She acknowledged Rachelle had a 

strong relationship with her children, I RP 76-77, but proposed severe 

restrictions on Rachelle's residential time and on her speech, conduct, and 

exercise of religion when with the children, Ex 40, at 25. She 

recommended Charles be the primary residential parent. I RP 14-15; 

Ex 40, at 23-25. 

Overall, the testimony at trial reflected Rachelle's strong relationship 

with the children and good parenting skills. For example, the children's 

therapist, who became involved at the recommendation of the GAL, 

testified that the children have a strong emotional bond with their mother, 

are close to her, find comfort from her, and were becoming accepting of 

their mother being in a same-sex relationship. II RP 350, 362; Ex 38. The 

GAL testified that Rachelle had a strong bond with her children. I RP 28, 

76-77. Multiple witnesses testified that Rachelle had continued to live in 

the home and serve as the primary caretaker of the children during the in

home separation. I RP 63, 120-22, 125-26, 128-34, 141; II RP 211-12, 

214, 229. Charles testified that Rachelle is a "pretty good mother," she 
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loves the children and the children love her, and he has no concerns for 

their physical safety while with her. III RP 382 

Ultimately, the trial court adopted the GAL's views. Br. of Appellant 

at 28-30. The court reasoned the children would find it "challenging" to 

adjust to the divorce and their mother's "homosexuality" because she and 

Charles had raised their children as conservative Christians in a church 

that condemns homosexuality. CP 40-41. And although the trial court 

expressly declined to find a basis for restrictions on Rachelle's residential 

time under RCW 26.09.191 and made no factual finding that the children 

would be harmed by their mother's conduct, religion, or sexual 

orientation, see CP 39-42, 46, 49, 73-75, the court adopted Charles' 

proposed speech and conduct restrictions verbatim, which prohibited 

Rachelle from: 

having further conversations with the children regarding 
religion, homosexuality, or other alternative lifestyles concepts 
and further that she is prohibited from exposing the children to 
literature or electronic media; taking them to movies or events; 
providing them with symbolic clothing or jewelry; or 
otherwise engaging in conduct that could reasonably be 
interpreted as being related to those topics unless the 
discussion, conduct or activity is specifically authorized and 
approved by [the children's therapist.] 

CP 49 at§ 3.13.8. The court also ordered that Rachelle's children have no 

contact with her partner without prior therapist approval. Id., at§ 3.13.7. 

The court imposed no equivalent restrictions on Charles. !d., at § 3 .13. 

The court also found Rachelle had a strong and stable relationship 

with her children, showed good potential for future performance of 

parenting functions, and had been a "traditional stay-at-home mother for 
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the majority" of the marriage. CP 40, 75. Nevertheless, the court made 

Charles the primary residential parent and reduced Rachelle's residential 

time to every other Thursday afternoon through Monday morning based in 

large part on its determination that Charles was in a better position to 

maintain the children's religious upbringing in a church and religious 

schools that teach homosexuality is a sin. CP 40-41, 46-49; I RP 36, 164; 

II RP 284. That is, the court considered Charles to be the "more stable 

parent" in terms of"maintaining [the children's] religious upbringing," 

stating "[t]hese children have been taught from the Bible since age 4. I 

believe it will be very challenging for them to reconcile their religious 

upbringing with the changes occurring within their family over issues 

involving marriage and dissolution, as well as homosexuality." CP 40-41. 

The trial court awarded sole decision-making authority regarding the 

children's religion, education, and day care to Charles on the mistaken 

belief that both parents were opposed to mutual decision making on all 

issues, siding again-without cause-with Charles in an ideological 

dispute. CP 51, 75. The trial court also denied spousal maintenance for 

Rachelle on the basis that Charles was unable to pay, despite finding that 

she needed maintenance and despite evidence in the record-which the 

trial court ignored-that supported Charles's ability to pay, CP 42, 69, 78, 

and the court ordered Rachelle to pay child support, CP 55. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's restrictions on 

Rachelle's conduct and speech regarding homosexuality, religion, and 

"alternative lifestyles concepts" and the allocation of sole decision-making 
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authority over religion and daycare to Charles. App. A at 1. However, the 

Court of Appeals upheld the orders making Charles the primary residential 

parent and sole decision-maker regarding education, as well as the child 

support and maintenance orders. !d. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court and the Court of Appeals have prohibited trial courts 

from marginalizing an LGBT parent's role in her children's lives because 

of perceived conflicts between her sexual orientation and the children's 

religious upbringing. 

LGBT individuals are raised in all kinds of households that teach all 

kinds of religious values, including conservative Christianity. Amicus 

Curiae Br. of ACLU of Washington Found. at 9-11. Conservative religious 

communities share attributes--such as limited information available to 

youth about sexuality, prohibitions on premarital sex, and pressure to 

marry and have children at young ages--that may lead LGBT individuals 

to come out later in life only after years of marriage to a different-sex 

spouse. !d. Trial court judges must not seek to separate LGBT parents 

from their children in these situations or punish the LGBT parent for 

coming out based on perceived conflicts between the parent's sexual 

orientation and the children's religious upbringing. This trial court's 

approach, affirmed by Division Two, to LGBT parents and their children 

would allow continued discrimination if applied to other families from 

conservative religious backgrounds. As such, the Court of Appeals opinion 

is in error, contradicts precedent of this Court, and raises issues of 
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substantial public interest. 

In addition, the decision below automatically favors working parents 

and applies an impossible standard to stay-at-home parents-the vast 

majority of whom are women-penalizing them both for not having 

sought employment outside the home and also for the possibility that they 

may at some point work outside the home and be unable to care for their 

children full time. Such a rule would always improperly weigh against 

stay-at-home parents. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals upheld a denial of spousal maintenance 

to a 15-year stay-at-home mother that was not just or supported by 

substantial evidence, ignoring serious flaws in the trial court's analysis. 

1. The Residential Time Decision Is Unsupported by Law 

In fashioning a parenting plan and determining a child's residential 

placement, Washington law promotes, above all, the continuity of bonds 

between parent and child. RCW 26.09.002. Accordingly, among the 

factors a trial court must consider in determining a child's residential 

placement, the most weight should be given to the "relative strength, 

nature, and stability of the child's relationship with each parent." See id.; 

RCW 26.09.187(3)(a)(i). A parent's sexual orientation is irrelevant, as is a 

parent's religious practice, absent proof of harm to the child. 

Yet, here, Division Two endorsed elevating sexual orientation and 

religious condemnation of homosexuality as the controlling factors in a 

residential time decision absent any finding of harm to the children. The 

trial court ignored the strength of the children's relationship with their 
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mother, cemented through her long-time role as primary caregiver,2 

merely because the children would find it "challenging" to reconcile their 

conservative religious upbringing with their mother's sexual orientation. 

By affirming this decision, Division Two not only approved discrimination 

against LGBT parents, but also undermined the duty to serve the 

children's best interests. This departure from Washington law harms this 

family and threatens the security and stability of other families with LGBT 

parents. 

Relatedly, the trial court improperly elevated maintaining continuity 

in the children's religious training over continuity in their relationship with 

their mother. While a trial court may consider a child's own religious 

beliefs (RCW 26.09.184(3)), here, the trial court the children in the 

primary care of their father so he could continue their "religious 

upbringing" in a church that condemns their mother's homosexuality. This 

fundamentally distorts Washington law and would disfavor any parent 

whose religious views change. 

2. The Residential Time Decision Cannot Be Based on a 
Parent's Sexual Orientation 

This Court long ago made clear that "homosexuality ... is not a bar 

to custody or reasonable rights of visitation." In reMarriage of 

Cabalquinto, 100 Wn.2d 325, 329,669 P.2d 886 (1983). A trial court 

"may not restrict residential time because of [a] parent's sexual 

2 Rachelle recognizes that there is no presumption in favor of placement with the primary 
caregiver, see In ReMarriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 800, 854 P.2d 629 (1993). Still, 
a proper application of the statutory factors requires the strength, nature and stability of 
the child's relationship with each parent be given the most weight. 
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orientation." In reMarriage of Wicklund, 84 Wn. App. 763, 772, 932 P.2d 

652 (1996). Rather, a trial court must focus on the statutory factors, 

attending particularly to the nature and quality of the attachment between 

the parent and child and the presumption that children are best served by 

maintaining continuity in their relationships as established by the family's 

history. RCW 26.09.002; see also Cabalquinto, 100 Wn.2d at 329 

("visitation rights must be determined with reference to the needs of the 

child" rather than parent's sexual orientation). When "unfortunate and 

unnecessary references [are made] by the trial court to homosexuality," a 

parent's sexual orientation may have been the determinative factor in a 

residential placement decision. Cabalquinto, 100 Wn.2d at 328. 

Here, Division Two ignored these principles despite the lower 

court's pervasive focus on Rachelle's sexual orientation and changed 

religious views regarding homosexuality, thus undermining the children's 

relationship with their mother by demoting her from a stay-at-home 

mother to an every-other-weekend mother. Not only did the trial court 

fundamentally alter these relationships, the court signaled to the children 

that it shared their father's disapproval of their mother. Whatever 

challenge the children may face in adapting to the separation of their 

parents or their mother's sexuality, it is nothing compared to the challenge 

created by the court's undermining of a parent-child bond. Division Two 

disregarded the evidence of these improper influences on the trial court, 
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flatly contravening Cabalquinto and Wicklund.3 

Ignoring this Court's admonitions, the trial court here imposed 

sweeping unconstitutional restrictions on Rachelle's speech, conduct and 

religion, barring her from discussing religion, homosexuality, and 

"alternative lifestyles concepts" with her sons and from having her partner 

present with the children. Although these restrictions were struck down by 

Division Two as "blatantly content-based," App. A at 13, they cannot be 

segregated from the residential time decision. Indeed, the trial court 

justified its residential time decision by explaining that the children would 

find it "very challenging ... to reconcile their religious upbringing with 

the changes occurring within their family over issues involving ... 

homosexuality" and characterizing Charles as the "more stable parent" 

because he could "maintain ... their religious upbringing." CP 40-41. The 

court's justifications here were substantiated only by the unsupported 

assumptions and bias of a GAL, who obviously held Rachelle's 

homosexuality against her, using patently offensive terms to refer to her 

sexual orientation, faulting her for wanting to explain the changes in her 

life to her children, and implying that she should not have acted on her 

"alternative lifestyle" until her children were grown. See Ex 40 at 21-24. 

By relying prominently on the GAL's biased views, whose reports 

further reveal her obvious judgment of Rachelle, the trial court improperly 

disfavored Rachelle because of her sexual orientation. Taken together with 

3 Instead of addressing this Court's mandate that homosexuality is not a bar to custody, 
the Court of Appeals analyzed the issue from the standpoint of judicial bias. App. A at 
18-19. 
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the Draconian restrictions imposed on Rachelle's speech, conduct and 

religion, the residential time decision reveals an attitude that the children 

need to be protected from their mother because she is a lesbian, ignoring 

her long history of caring for them and her strong, stable and positive 

relationship with them. If applied to future cases, such an approach would 

automatically limit the residential time of parents who come out as LGBT 

or alter their religious views during a marriage, despite having a strong 

relationship with their children and without a showing of actual harm to 

the children. This is discrimination, which Washington law does not allow. 

3. A Parent's Religious Views on Homosexuality Cannot 
Form the Basis of a Residential Time Decision 

When considering Charles the more "stable" parent in "maintaining 

[the children's] religious upbringing," the trial court emphasized that 

Charles's religious views remained consistent with how the children "have 

been taught from the Bible since age 4." CP 40. But consideration of a 

parent's religious views is not a factor under RCW 26.09.187(3) and raises

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