No. 92994-7

RECEIVED SOPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

Jun 08, 2016, 8:06 a

S OFFICE

CLER

RECEIVED ELECTRON

FILED

NASHINGTON STAT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Rachelle K. Black

Appellant,

V.

Charles W. Black

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP. P.L.L.C. Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent

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

Rachelle's assertion that Chuck sought to limit her speech and conduct is misleadingly incomplete. Pet. at 4. In truth, LeBlanc recommended that Rachelle "agree" to refrain from discussing her sexual orientation with the kids and from having Van Hoose at visitations until Knight determined that the children were ready. RP 14. Rachelle repeatedly testified that she and Van Hoose would follow Knight's recommendations, taking it "as slow as it needs to go." RP 170-71, 249-51, 261-62. The parenting-plan restrictions were based on concerns that Rachelle was not giving the kids time to adjust. RP 32-33. But again, Chuck conceded they were error.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The trial court was not prejudiced against Rachelle – a point she lost on appeal and does not directly challenge.

On appeal, Rachelle alleged judicial bias, arguing that the trial court improperly based the parenting plan on her sexual orientation and religious views. *In re Marriage of Black*, No. 46788-7-II ("Unpub. Op.") at 8 (March 2016). Although her petition alleges discrimination, Rachelle fails to even mention the applicable law or the appellate court's holding on this point. Pet. 4-5, 9-12. She continues to discount the seriousness of alleging that a trial judge intentionally discriminated against her and that the appellate court "approved discrimination against LGBT parents." Pet. at 10.

Rachelle does not dispute that "[t]o overcome the presumption that a trial court is fair and free of bias or prejudice, there must be specific facts and evidence establishing the claimed bias." Unpub. Op. at 18 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)). "Judicial rulings alone almost never constitute valid evidence of bias." *Id*.

The appellate court unequivocally held that "[t]here is no evidence in the record to support Rachelle's or the amici's arguments that the trial court based its residential placement decision on Rachelle's sexual orientation or a preference for

Charles's religion." *Id.* at 18. The appellate even corrected one amici's assertion that the court referenced "Rachelle's sexual orientation more than a dozen time," stating, "this is incorrect, and while the trial court's ruling does reference Rachelle's sexual orientation, it is in the context of providing the factual context of the Blacks' relationship, and is not a basis of any of the trial court's decisions." *Id.* at 19 n.8.

In assessing Rachelle's assertions of discrimination, it is crucial to note that Rachelle's appeal bore little resemblance to the case she put on at trial. On appeal, Rachelle and amici presented copious briefing addressing the complex interplay between a parenting plan that must protect children's best interests, and the parents' rights to free speech and free exercise. The upshot was a vociferous claim that Judge Orlando discriminated against Rachelle because she is a lesbian. Judge Orlando did not have the benefit of a single page of argument on this issue, nor a mention of any of the cases Rachelle relied on here and on appeal. Bias cannot be inferred from the failure to address arguments no one raised.

In short, Rachelle places the trial court in an impossible catch-22. While her sexual orientation and the parties' religious views were discussed at great length at trial, Rachelle now claims

they are "irrelevant." Pet. at 9. Certainly a court "may not restrict residential time because of the parent's sexual orientation" (or religious affiliation). *In re Marriage of Wicklund*, 84 Wn. App. 763, 772, 932 P.2d 652 (1996). That does not mean that the trial court must ignore the evidence put before it.

B. Rachelle's attacks on the parenting plan are unsupported in law and fact.

1. The parenting plan correctly applies the controlling statute, most of which Rachelle ignores.

Rachelle argues that the court ignored the strength of her relationship with the children (RCW 26.09.187(3)(a)(i)) focusing instead on her sexual orientation and maintaining religious "continuity." Pet. at 9-10. As discussed above, the appellate court found "no evidence in the record" supporting Rachelle's claims. *Id.* at 18. Rachelle ignores that holding.

Recognizing, as she must, that there is no presumption in favor of placement with the primary caregiver, Rachelle argues that factor (i) must nonetheless be given the greatest weight. Pet. at 10 n.2 (citing *In re Marriage of Kovacs*, 121 Wn.2d 795, 800, 854 P.2d 629 (1993); Unpub. Op. at 16 (same). It was.

As to factor (i), "the trial court found that both Charles and Rachelle 'have a strong and stable relationship with the children." Unpub. Op. at 15 (quoting CP at 40). Recognizing that "[t]his factor is given the most weight," the appellate court held that "it weighed equally in favor of both parents." *Id.* That finding was supported by substantial evidence, where: "The GAL testified that . . . both parents have strong bonds with the children," "[b]oth parents were actively involved in their children's schooling and education, and both had a consistent presence in the children's lives, Charles as an involved father and Rachelle as a stay-at-home parent." *Id.*

Rachelle does not address the six other statutory factors. Those that apply are neutral or support placing the children with Chuck a majority of the time. *Id.* at 15-18. One neutral factor – even given the greatest weight – does not overcome the remaining factors in Chuck's favor.

2. The parenting plan is not based on sexual orientation.

Chuck agrees that parenting plans cannot be "based on" sexual orientation. Pet. at 10-13. This one is not. Unpub. Op. at 18.

Rachelle's argument on this point is two-fold: (1) the parenting-plan restrictions that were struck down (based in part on Chuck's concession) "cannot be segregated from the residential time decision"; and (2) the court relied "prominently on the GAL's

biased views." Pet. at 12. The first is addressed squarely by *Wicklund*, rejecting the assertion that non-neutral limitation on father's conduct could not be segregated from the residential schedule. 84 Wn. App. at 772-73. There, the parties divorced after father came to realize that he is homosexual. 84 Wn. App. at 765-66. Despite both parties' request, the trial court declined to order counseling for the children, instead prohibiting the father from "practice[ing] homosexuality" – *i.e.*, displaying any affection toward a man – during his residential time. *Id.* at 768-69. The appellate court reversed that obviously improper restriction.

The appellate court nonetheless affirmed the residential schedule, holding that "the record does not support [father's] assertion that the trial court reduced [his] residential time solely because of his sexual orientation." *Id.* at 772-73. There is no conflict with *Wicklund* which plainly supports affirming the residential schedule. *Compare id. with* Pet. at 12.

In re Marriage of Cabalquinto is inapposite, so cannot present a conflict. Pet. at 10-12 (citing 100 Wn.2d 325, 329, 669 P.2d 886 (1983)). There, this Court appropriately admonished the trial court for its "strong antipathy to homosexual living arrangements," where the trial judge had stated, "'a child should be

led in the way of heterosexual preference, not be tolerant of this thing [homosexuality]' and that 'it can[not] do the boy any good to live in such an environment. It might do some harm.'" *Cabalquinto*, 100 Wn.2d at 328. This Court remanded for the entry of findings, where it could not ascertain the basis of the trial court's decision. 100 Wn.2d at 329. Unlike the parenting plan in *Cabalquinto*, this parenting plan is squarely focused on the children's best interest, discussed at length in the trial court's findings. *Id.* at 329.

Rachelle next claims that the "only" support for the trial court's decision is the "unsupported assumptions and bias of a GAL, who obviously held Rachelle's homosexuality against her." Pet. at 12-13; 4-5. Rachelle's attacks on LeBlanc's character ignore her testimony on this point, as well as the appellate court's holding.

When Rachelle informed LeBlanc that she "took issue" with the use of "lifestyle choice" in her preliminary report, LeBlanc explained that did not intend to suggest that sexual orientation was or was not a choice. RP 43-44; Ex 40 at 21. Rather, "choice" referred to Rachelle's decisions to spend significant time away from the home and kids, to divorce, and to move in with Ms. Van Hoose, all things that are "inconsistent with the teachings and principals that she and Mr. Black elected to share with their children." Ex 40

at 21. LeBlanc was not suggesting that Rachelle should not have made these choices, but candidly acknowledging that they had created controversy and confusion for the children "given the family's faith and historical belief system." RP 43-44; Ex 40 at 21-22. While it was undoubtedly painful to hear, it is not surprising that children with no reference point for divorce or homosexuality struggled to accept both. RP 43-44, 164, 165-66, 349-50, 357-58; Ex 40 at 21-22.

In short, LeBlanc was asked to explain her word choice and did. The trial court's acceptance of her explanations does not indicate prejudice.

Finally, Rachelle's assumption that Chuck "disapprov[es]" of her is troubling. Pet. at 11. Rachelle addresses at great length her changed religious views in light of discovering her sexual orientation, yet insists that Chuck's views have not changed. The mother of his children is a lesbian – it's not so difficult to imagine that his thoughts on the subject have evolved.

3. The parenting plan is not based on either party's religious views on homosexuality.

Here, Rachelle asserts a conflict with *Munoz*, *Hadeen* and *Jensen-Branch*, claiming that the trial court impermissibly favored

Chuck's "religious views" in finding that Chuck "is clearly the more stable parent in terms of the ability to provide for the needs of these children, both financially, as well as emotionally, and in maintaining their religious upbringing." CP 40; Pet at 13 (citing *Munoz v. Munoz*, 79 Wn.2d 810, 812-13, 489 P.2d 1133 (1971); *In re Marriage of Jensen-Branch*, 78 Wn. App. 482, 490, 899 P.2d 803 (1995); and *In re Marriage of Hadeen*, 27 Wn. App. 566, 581, 619 P.2d 374 (1980)). As addressed below, these cases address sole decision-making on religion. *Infra*, Argument C. They do not support Rachelle's claim.

The court's ruling makes very clear that it was endeavoring to provide stability for the children whose "sheltered" upbringing included "significant time spent on religious education." CP 40. The trial court was not, as Rachelle suggests, addressing Chuck's religion, but the children's. *Compare* Pet. at 13 *with* CP 40-41. That is permissible under RCW 26.09.184(3). Unpub. Op. at 17.

4. The court may consider the children's religious beliefs, but that is not the basis of the parenting plan in any event.

Accepting, as she must, that the trial court may consider the children's religious beliefs, Rachelle argues that the record does not reflect children's beliefs, but only what they were "taught." Pet.

at 14. The children did not testify or otherwise address the court. CP 40; Unpub. Op. 17. They had minimal contacts with the GAL, and therapeutic sessions were canceled because the children were shut down and unprepared to talk RP 345, 355. Certainly though, what they have been taught their entire lives is circumstantial evidence of their beliefs, especially when uncontroverted.

Rachelle argues that "there is evidence however that the children no longer believe what they were taught," citing Knight's statement that the children were getting "more used to [the] idea" of Rachelle being in a lesbian relationship. Pet. at 15 n. 4 (citing RP 350). While that is certainly a positive development, it is not a suggestion that the children have rejected their religious beliefs.

This speaks to a larger point Rachelle has missed throughout this matter. After acknowledging her sexual orientation, Rachelle had nearly three years before the divorce to work through the admittedly difficult process of reconciling her faith with her sexual orientation and divorce. The kids did not. The assertion that their views had dramatically changed in a few months is unfounded.

5. The parenting plan does not penalize Rachelle for having been a stay-at-home parent.

Rachelle complains that the appellate court "endorsed" the trial court's concern that "Rachelle had no articulable plans for employment or education, other than to have her partner support her." Unpub. Op. at 17; CP 40-41; Pet. at 16-17. This concern is based on substantial evidence – testimony from Knight and LeBlanc expressing the same concern. CP 40-41; RP 352-53. And the court expressly stated that it would have the same concern regardless of the gender of Rachelle's partner. CP 41.

It does not "penalize" divorcing parents to consider what they have or have not done to prepare to single-parent. Pet. at 17. Nor is it a penalty to state the obvious fact that that Rachelle's future employment will "impact her ability to be a full-time parent." *Id*.

In sum, the trial court carefully considered the children's best interest, in what was plainly a complex and undoubtedly difficult case. The appellate court correctly affirmed the residential schedule. This Court should deny review.

C. Granting Chuck sole decision-making on education does not affront Rachelle's right to free exercise of religion.

There is no authority for Rachelle's proposition that her right to free exercise of religion mandates joint decision-making on

education. Pet. at 17-18. Rachelle misrepresents the basis of the trial court's ruling on this point and fundamentally misunderstands her free-exercise rights. This Court should deny review.

RCW 26.09.187(2)(b) permits sole decision-making when both parents are opposed to joint decision-making, or when one parent is reasonably opposed to joint decision-making. The court may consider the parents' ability and desire to cooperate. RCW 26.09.187(2)(c)(iii).

"[B]oth parties opposed mutual decision-making over education" and both sought sole decision-making. Unpub. Op. at 2. The parties had "very different goals concerning the children's education," and a "'recent history of lack of communication." *Id.* (quoting CP at 75). Awarding Chuck sole decision-making was well within the court's discretion.

Nonetheless, Rachelle asserts a conflict with her freeexercise rights because the children attend religious schools. Pet. at 17-18. *Jensen-Branch*, *Hadeen* and *Munoz*, *supra*, do not address this point, so cannot present a conflict. *Id*.

Rachelle's right to free exercise entitles her to share her faith and religious practices with the children. See *Munoz*. 79 Wn.2d at 812-13. Granting one parent sole decision-making on religious

upbringing necessarily infringes on the other parent's free-exercise right. *Id.* Awarding sole decision-making on education does not have the same effect. Rachelle remains free to share her faith with the children regardless of where they go to school.

There is no basis for the proposed unprecedented expansion of the free-exercise right. This Court should deny review.

D. The trial court correctly declined to award Rachelle maintenance where Chuck cannot afford to pay it.

Rachelle argues that the trial court incorrectly focused only in Chuck's inability to pay maintenance, and "miscalculate[d]" his ability to pay. Pet. 18-20. Neither contention merits review.

The appellate court correctly affirmed the trial court's finding that Chuck cannot pay maintenance. CP 69, FF 2.12; Unpub. Op. at 25-26. The trial court's gross monthly income calculation, \$8,179, adopts Rachelle's erroneously high calculation. BR 40-42. But even using that inflated figure, Chuck's monthly household expenses exceed his net income. Unpub. Op. at 26; Ex 46 at 1.

Rachelle's argument is essentially a list of things the trial court supposedly "ignored," and the appellate court supposedly "failed to address." Pet. at 19-20. The court did not "ignore" Chuck's one-time 2013 bonus, but intentionally excluded it from the income

calculation. CP 42; CP 74, FF 24. That is appropriate for a one-time bonus, particularly where the court ordered the parties to split any 2014 bonus. CP 77 \P 3.2.

The trial court was also well aware that the grandparents have historically helped with the children's tuition. CP 69, FF 2.12; CP 73, FF 14. It cannot require them to do so.

And Rachelle falsely claims that the trial court "incorrectly included as a monthly expense" community debts paid off when Chuck – after trial – refinanced the parties' home. Pet. at 19. Although the court referenced this debt, it is not included in Chuck's financial declaration. Ex 46 at 1. Again, Chuck's monthly expenses – absent this debt – exceeds his net income. *Id*.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this day of June, 2016.

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033